

-12

HYDRONAUTICS, incorporated research in hydrodynamics

Research, consulting, and advanced engineering in the fields of NAVAL and INDUSTRIAL HYDRODYNAMICS. Offices and Laboratory in the Washington, D. C., area: Pindell School Road, Howard County, Laurel, Md.

Reproduced by the CLEARINGHOUSE for Federal Scientific & Technical Information Springfield Va. 22151

DISCLAIMER NOTICE



THIS DOCUMENT IS BEST QUALITY AVAILABLE. THE COPY FURNISHED TO DTIC CONTAINED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF PAGES WHICH DO NOT REPRODUCE LEGIBLY.

TECHNICAL REPORT 532-1

AIRBOAT NOISE REDUCTION AND IMPELLER DESIGN FOR WATER JET PROPULSION SYSTEMS

By

Dinshaw N. Contractor and J. Otto Scherer

July 1967

DISTRIBUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IS UNLIMITED

Prepared Under

Office of Naval Research Contract No. Nonr 5018(00) NR 062-371

一二の一方の一方の一方

-i-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

PREFACE	1
INTRODUCTION	2
PRELIMINARY AIR PROPELLER NOISE MEASUREMENTS	4
Sources of Noise	4
THEORETICAL NOISE ANALYSIS	7
Rotational Noise	8
Vortex Noise	10
Theoretical Noise Reduction	12
PROPELLER DESIGN	15
SHROUD DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION	20
DESIGN OF TWIN ENGINE AIRBOAT	22
EXPERIMENTAL TESTS	23
NOISE AND PERFORMANCE TESTS OF PROPELLER AND	
PROPELLER-SHROUD COMBINATION	25
MODEL TESTS	29
VIBRATION STUDIES	31
NOISE AND THRUST TESTS OF MODIFIED PROPELLER-SHROUD	
CONTRACTION	33
8 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller Inside Shroud	34
4 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller With Shroud	34
2 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller Inside Shroud	35
WATER JET IMPELLER DESTGN	36
CALCULATION OF MAXIMUM POWER ABSORPTION	37
DESTGN OF GUTDE VANES	42

-11-

State of the second sec

	rage
CONSTRUCTION AND INSTALLATION	43
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	44
REFERENCES	46

Ì

-iii-

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1	-	Airboat on Trailer and Instruments Used for Noise Measurement Test
Figure	2	-	Overall Noise Levels Around Airboat at Start of Project N = 2600 RPM
Figure	3	- '	Typical Recording of Wave Analyzer, Propeller RPM = 2600
Figure	4	-	Sound Pressure Level as a Function of Tip Mach Number and Number of Blades
Figure	5	-	Variation of Total Thrust with Speed of HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Designed Propeller
Figure	6	-	HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Propeller Blade Design
Figure	7	-	Chord, Thickness, and Blade Angle of HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Designed Propeller Blade
Figure	8	-	Relation Between Critical Mach Number and Tip Mach Number Over the Range of Operating Lift Coefficients
Figure	9	-	Sixteen Bladed Propeller
Figure	10	-	Sixteen Bladed Propeller with Shroud Installed
Figure	11	-	Shroud Locations on Airboat Hull
Figure	12	-	Shroud Arrangement on Airboat Hull
Figure	13	-	Shroud Structural Arrangements
Figure	14	-	Twin Engine Airboat Arrangement Drawing
Figure	15	•	Test Set-Up for Thrust Measurements of Airboat

¥i

44

-iv-

Figure	16	-	Performance Characteristics of 8 Bladed Propeller
Figure	17	-	Performance Characteristics of 8 Bladed Propeller With and Without Shroud
Figure	18	-	Performance Characteristics of 16 Bladed Propeller With and Without Shroud
Figure	19	-	Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat with 4 Bladed Wooden Propeller
Figure	20 _.	-	Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat with 8 Bladed Propeller
Figure	21	-	Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat Using 8 Bladed Propeller with Shroud
Figure	22	-	Shroud Pressure Levels Around Airboat Using 16 Bladed Propeller With and Without Shroud
Figure	23	-	Frequency Analyses of 4 and 8 Bladed Propellers
Figure	24	-	Frequency Analyses of 8 Bladed Propeller With and Without Shroud
Figure	25	-	Model Motor and Nozzle Mounted on Thrust Dynamometers
Figure	26	-	Shroud With Simulated Boat-Stern
Figure	27	-	Effect of Tip Clearance on Figure of Merit (Results of Model Tests)
Figure	28	-	Effect of Tip Clearance on Figure of Merit (Model Tests With Boat-Stern Simulated)
Figure	29	-	Comparison of Model and Prototype Data
Figure	30	-	Performance of 8 Bladed 6'11" Propeller With Shroud
Figure	31	-	Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat With 8 Bladed 6'11" Propeller With Shroud

Figure 32 - Performance of 4 Bladed, 6'11" Diameter Propeller With Shroud

-v-

Figure 33 - Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat With 4 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller With Shroud

Figure 34 - Performance of 2 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller With Shroud

Figure 35 - Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat With 2 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller With Shroud

Figure 36 - Sound Pressure Levels Around Airboat When Producing 1100 Pounds of Thrust

- Figure 37 HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Design of Impeller for Commercial Water Jet System
- Figure 38 Theoretical Pressure Distribution Over Foil and Average Pressure Rise in Pump at Design Condition
- Figure 39 Theoretical Pressure Distribution Over Foil and Average Pressure Rise in Pump at Off Design Condition
- Figure 40 HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Design of Guide Vanes for Commercial Water Jet System
- Figure 41 Redesigned Impeller for Commercial Water Jet System
- Figure 42 New Guide Vanes for Commercial Water Jet System

Figure 43 - Assembly of Impeller and Stator in Commercial Water Jet

-1-

PREFACE

This technical study was carried out for the U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Laboratories, Fort Belvoir, Virginia, under Office of Naval Research Contract No. Nonr 5018(00) The study involved an investigation of two different NR 062-371. propulsion systems for a shallow draft boat. In the propulsion of this boat by means of an airscrew, the radiated noise is intense enough to cause damage to the ears of passengers and crew. The first part of this study deals with a program to reduce the noise level while delivering the desired thrust. In the propulsion of such boats by means of a water jet, the design of the pump impeller is critical. For a given water jet unit, the maximum thrust that can be developed is dependent on the maximum head that the impeller can develop, which in turn depends on the cavitation characteristics of the impeller. The second part of this study involves the design of an impeller to maximize the thrust of a given water jet system. This report represents the conclusion of all work to be carried out under the contraci.

This project was under the overall supervision of Mr. Virgil E. Johnson, Jr., Chief Engineer of HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated. The work to be done was of such a wide scope that the talents of several personnel of HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated were utilized. The personnel involved in this project included Dr. Dinshaw N. Contractor, Mr. Otto Scherer, Mr. Eugene Miller, Mr. William Lindenmuth and Mr. Shaikh Matin. The noise and thrust tests were conducted at the Montgomery County Air Park, Gaithersburg, Maryland.

-2-

The technical representatives of the U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Laboratories were Mr. Francis X. Stora and Mr. John Sargent. Mr. Stora's and Mr. Sargent's continued interest and helpful suggestions throughout the entire program were appreciated very much.

-3-

INTRODUCTION

The Army has for sometime been interested in developing propulsion systems for small boats that are capable of operating in shallow waters that may be infested with heavy weed growth. Two propulsion systems that show promise for operation in such an environment are water jet propulsion and propulsion with an airscrew. Despite the fact that such systems are satisfactory from a propulsion standpoint, their use creates certain problems which require resolution before successful operational systems are achieved.

In the case of airscrew propulsion, the noise generated by the propeller is a major problem. Since the propeller is close to the personnel in the boat, the high noise levels make speech communication between personnel impossible. Indeed, the noise levels may be so intense as to cause hearing loss of the personnel exposed for any significant time unless some form of ear protection is worn. In addition, the airscrew also radiates considerable sound power to the far field and the presence of the boat can be detected at large distances. Thus, the problem is one of minimizing the noise of the propeller while delivering the same or preferably greater thrust. The description of the research, design and testing program to reduce the airboat noise forms the major portion of this report and is described in detail in the following sections.

In developing water jet systems for use in shallow waters, the Army has procured and tested a water jet system from a commercial firm. Preliminary tests on a boat with the commercial water jet indicated the performance of the unit to be below that anticipated.

AND A DESCRIPTION OF A

-4-

The impellers in the water jet unit cavitated earlier than expected, and as a result, the head and discharge decreased and the unit was unable to absorb the installed engine power. Thus, it was desirable to redesign the impellers so that they can deliver a higher head and discharge before cavitating, absorb more of the installed power of the engine and deliver more thrust to the boat. The design of the new impellers is described in a later section.

PRELIMINARY AIR PROPELLER NOISE MEASUREMENTS

Sources of Noise

In the study of the air propelled boat several possible sources of noise were considered. These included the propeller, the engine exhaust, vibration of the boat hull, and vibration of the rudder panels. Preliminary, experimental noise measurements were conducted at Fort Belvoir, Virginia, to assist in identifying the more significant noise sources. The measurements included a survey of the overall sound pressure levels around the boat and frequency analyses of the noise at certain locations. These tests showed that vibration of the boat hull and rudder panels did not contribute any noise. The main sources of noise were the propeller and the engine exhaust. These tests with their results are described below.

The airboat has an aluminum hull, and is about 20 feet long and 8 feet wide. Since it has been designed for high speeds and use in shallow water, it is shaped like a planing boat. The boat is powered by a 400 horsepower, 8 cylinder, Lycoming engine, with a maximum rpm of 2650. The engine was calibrated so that knowing

the suction manifold pressure and the rpm, the horsepower delivered by the engine could be determined. The engine had no muffler when the preliminary tests were conducted. This engine drove a 4 bladed, wooden, pusher-type propeller.

-5-

The airboat was towed to a level field in which there were few obstructions. The noise measurements made around the airboat utilized instruments manufactured by General Radio Company. The noise was picked up by a piezcelectric microphone, which had a flat frequency response to 8000 cps. The microphone output was supplied to a sound level meter, from which the overall noise level could te read. The output of the sound level meter was supplied to the wave analyzer and a graphic level recorder was used to record the wave analysis of the noise. A constant bandwidth of 50 cps was used to record the frequency distribution of the noise. The in strumentation was calibrated with a 120 db, 400 cps tone provided by a calibrator placed over the microphone. Figure 1 shows photographs of the airboat on the trailer and the noise instruments used.

Figure 2 presents the overall noise level variation around the airboat, with the engine running at 2600 rpm. Table 1 presents the maximum acceptable steady state noise levels recommended for Army Material Command Equipment. The overall level measured at the driver's seat is 127.5 db, which is far greater than the recommended overall level of 121.7 db. During the course of the noise tests, all personnel wore ear protectors as a necessary safeguard. Figure 3 snows the frequency distribution of the overall noise at one location. It can be seen that the peaks occur at the propeller

Octave Band Limits cps	Sound Pressure Level in db(re.0.0002 dynes/cm ²)
37.5 - 75	120
75 - 150	115
150 - 300	109
300 - 600	101
600 - 1200	93
1200 - 2400	89
2400 - 4800	89
4800 - 9600	91
Overall	121.7

ΠÂ	DIF	1
TW	DLC	Т

-6-

blade passage frequency and its harmonics, indicating that propeller noise is a predominant source. The engine exhaust noise occurs at the average firing frequency of the engine and in this case, this frequency happens to coincide with the fundamental propeller frequency. Thus, it is difficult to distinguish between the relative importance of each source. It is, of course, obvious that mufflers should be used and that they will be helpful in reducing the noise level. However, it is important that the correct muffler be used so that noise attenuation will be obtained at the right frequencies. Thus, when two truck mufflers were used on this engine, no significant reduction in noise resulted. The manu.acturer of the aircraft engine, however, did recommend a muffler system, available from the Piper Aircraft Corporation. This

-7-

muffler system was installed in the boat and new noise measurements conducted. Significant noise reductions were obtained. Details of these tests are presented in a subsequent section of this report.

With the use of the correct muffler, it became apparent that the propeller was the major source of noise and the entire program was directed to reducing the propeller noise while delivering the same thrust.

THEORETICAL NOISE ANALYSIS

The noise radiated by a propeller operating in free space can be divided into three components, (a) Rotational Noise, (b) Vortex Noise, and (c) Thrust and Torque fluctuations due to a non uniform inflow to the propeller disk. The rotational noise is due to the steady state thrust and torque developed by the propeller and is associated with the pressure field that rotates with the propeller. This noise occurs as sharp peaks at discrete frequencies, these frequencies being the blade passage frequency and its harmonics. Vortex noise is due to the unsteady aerodynamic forces on the blades associated with the shedding of vortices in the wake of the blades. These unsteady forces which give rise to thrust fluctuations, occur over a wide band of frequencies, with the peak occurring at a Strouhal number of 0.2.

A propeller can also radiate noise when operating in nonuniform inflow. Such inflow conditions can be created by the wake of objects (e.g. struts) ahead of the propeller disk and by the proximity of solid boundaries to the tip of the blades. The inflow conditions cause the blade to see variations in the angle of attack.

-8-

giving rise to fluctuations in the thrust and torque. These fluctuating forces act as dipole sources of sound. The thrust dipole radiates sound along the propeller axis and the torque fluctuations propagate in the plane of the propeller disk. The frequency of these fluctuations is equal to a constant times the blade passage frequency, where the constant depends on the nature of the inflow conditions. The intensity of such fluctuations is, however, difficult to determine. One of the parameters on which it would depend is the blade area ratio. This fact was helpful in guiding the course of experiments later in the program.

Rotational Noise

A theoretical analysis of the rotational noise of a propeller operating in free space and at zero forward speed is presented in Reference 1. This analysis gives the far-field sound pressure of different harmonics as a function of the geometry and aerodynamic performance of the propeller and the location of the observer. The following formula is the result of the analysis:

 $p_{m}(r,\theta) = \frac{mn\omega}{2\pi cr} \left[-T \cos \theta + \frac{cQ}{\omega R^{2}} \right] J_{(mn)} \left(\frac{mn\omega}{c} \times .75 R \sin \theta \right)$

[1]

-9-

where

 $p_{m}(r,\theta) =$ Sound pressure of the mth harmonic at location (r,θ) ,

T = Static thrust of propeller

$$= \left[2\pi\rho R^{2}P^{2}\eta^{2} \right]^{\frac{1}{3}} = \left[\pi\rho R^{2}P^{2}C_{M}^{2} \right]^{\frac{1}{3}} ,$$

P = Power absorbed by propeller,

Q = Torque of propeller,

 ω = Angular speed of propeller,

R = Radius of propeller,

- m = Order of harmonic,
- n = Number of blades on propeller,

$$C_{M} = \frac{T^{3/2}}{\sqrt{\pi\rho R^{2}} P}$$

$$\eta$$
 = Static Efficiency = $\frac{T^{3/2}}{\sqrt{2\pi\rho R^2}}$ = $\frac{C_M}{\sqrt{2}}$

c = Speed of sound,

- r = Distance of observation point from propeller disc center,
- θ = Angle between radius r and forward direction. of propeller, and

 $J_{(mn)}$ = Bessel function of order (mn).

-10-

The calculation of sound pressures from Equation [1] gives slightly lower sound pressures than experimentally measured, see Reference 2. However, the analysis is very helpful in understanding the relative importance of different parameters and in establishing the directivity of the sound radiation and provides some guidance for the rotational noise reduction program. Thus, a few general observations will be made on the information obtainable from Equation [1], which will be useful in interpreting the experimental data.

(a) The sound pressure is zero along the propeller axis and reaches a maximum just behind the plane of the propeller.

(b) For a small number of blades, the first harmonic contains the greatest energy and the higher harmonics contain smaller amounts of energy. For a large number of blades, the higher harmonics may be as intense as the fundamental.

(c) For a given number of blades, the acoustic level rises sharply with tip Mach number and for a given tip Mach number the acoustic level decreases as the number of blades is increased.

Vortex Noise

Vortex noise is associated with the shedding of vortices in the wake of the blade. The strength of these vortices is low when they are caused by the boundary layer on the foil. When the flow about the foil separates, the strength of these vortices is greatly increased. These vortices cause fluctuations in the lift of the

-11-

blade and consequently the thrust of the propeller. These fluctuating forces give rise to accustic dipoles, that radiate sound with a peak intensity along the axis of the propeller and with zero intensity in the plane of the propeller. No theory exists to predict the vortex noise of a propeller accurately. However, some analysis and experiments have been performed on cylindrical rods rotating about the center of the rod. The mechanics of sound generation and the pattern of radiation are identical for the rods and actual propeller blades. Reference 3 derives an equation for the total accustic power, P_A , radiated by the rods as a function of geometry and speed and is presented below.

$$P_{A} \propto (C_{D}S)^{2} \frac{\mu V_{t}^{6}}{c^{3}} R d \qquad [2]$$

where

 C_{D} = Form drag coefficient of rod section, S = Strounal number = fd/V_t; V_{t} = Tip speed, c = Speed of sound in medium, R = Distance of rotating axis to tip, and d = Diameter of the rod.

In the case of the propeller, the term d to be used is the projection of the vane profile normal to the relative velocity past the section. It is also shown in Reference 3 that the total acoustic power of the vortex sound increases in proportion to the

-12-

square of the linear dimensions of the rod for a given tip speed. This suggests that the acoustic power of vortex noise is directly proportional to the blade area ratio (BAR) of the propeller. These observations will be very helpful in interpreting the test results of propeller noise.

For conventional propellers, vortex noise dominates over rotational noise only at low tip Mach numbers. At higher Mach numbers, say $M_t > 0.6$, rotational noise will be greater than vortex noise, since rotational noise increases at a faster rate than vortex noise with tip velocity. However, in the case of propellers with a very large number of blades vortex noise may be as intense as rotational noise because of the large blade area ratio of the propeller.

Theoretical Noise Reduction

Assuming that rotational noise predominates, the methods by which the noise of a propeller can be reduced, are obtained from Equation [1]. There are three methods by which a propeller could be designed to radiate less noise.

(a) For a given number of blades, the lower the tip Mach number, the lower will be the noise output. Thus, the diameter and the rpm of the propeller should be selected in such a way as to keep the tip Mach number as low as possible, while still delivering the design thrust. This requirement leads to large diameter, slow turning propellers. For the given airboat, the size of the propeller could not be increased significantly because of

-13-

the engine mounting and arrangements. As a result, the remaining methods of noise reduction were found to be more suitable in the present case.

(b) The rotational noise of a propeller is reduced by using a larger number of blades with the same total BAR. For a given thrust and blade lift coefficient, the blade chord required by aerodynamic design decreases with increasing number of blades such that the blade area ratio remains the same. A limit on the allowable number of blades is reached when the blade chords become so small that they are not structurally adequate. To make the blades structurally adequate, the blade chords have to be increased, thus increasing the BAR. The higher BAR increases the vortex noise and the wake induced noise, thus partially nullifying the advantage of using a large number of blades.

In order to help in the design of new propellers, Equation [1] has been rewritten in terms of the tip Mach number, $M_t = \frac{\omega R}{c}$, and the number of blades, n. The speed of the propeller is held constant at 2600 rpm and it is assumed that the BAR is sufficient to absorb 400 horsepower. The following values are used in the calculation of sound pressure p from Equation [1],

μ	=	.00238 lbs/ft ³	С	Ŧ	1117	fps
Ρ	=	400 horsepower	R	=	3.25	ft.
ო	=	$\frac{2\pi N}{60} = \frac{2\pi 2600}{60} = 272 \text{ rads/s}$	ec.	•		
η	=	0.8 (assumed) T = 1696	6 3	lb	5.	
r	=	25 ft.	θ	=	120 ⁰ .	•

-14-

Using these values, Equation [1] has been reduced to the following form,

Sound pre sure level, SPL, in db (re.0.0002 μ bars)

$$= 117.2 - 20 \log_{10} \left\{ (n-1)! \right\}$$
$$+ 20 \left[n \log_{10} (.325 \ n \ M_t) + \log_{10} \left(4.67 \ M_t^{\frac{2}{3}} + \frac{1}{M_t^2} \right) \right]$$

Results obtained from this equation are plotted in Figure 4. From this figure, a suitable choice of the number of blades and tip Mach number can be made to give an acceptable rotational noise level. It is not possible to evaluate the vortex noise levels as reliably as the rotational noise levels. From Figure 4 it was decided that a propeller with 16 blades would be designed. The details of the design of this propeller are presented in the next section.

(c) A third method of reducing the noise level suggested in Equation [1] is to design propellers with a large value of static efficiency, η , or figure of merit C_M . With a large value of η or C_M a given thrust can be achieved with a lower power input and hence the noise due to the steady-state torque (the second term in Equation [1]) is reduced. However there is a very real limit to the values of η or C_M that can be obtained with conventional propellers. Another way of increasing C_M is by the use of a shroud or nozzle around the propeller. The use of a good shroud can increase C_M by 50-100 percent. The use of a well designed shroud to

reduce the sound level of a propeller is discussed in Reference 4. Thus, it was decided to design a shroud, so that part of the required thrust could be developed on the shroud and thus the propeller loading could be relieved. As a result less propeller noise should be generated. The design of the shroud and its fabrication are also described in a subsequent section.

PROPELLER DESIGN

The importance of increasing the static efficiency (η) cr the figure of merit (C_M) was discussed in the previous section. These coefficients are primarily dependent on the geometry of the propeller and its surroundings and are defined below.

$$\eta = \frac{c_{M}}{\sqrt{2}} = \frac{T^{3/2}}{PR\sqrt{2\pi\rho}}$$
 [3]

It can be seen from this relation that for a given engine power and rotational speed the thrust delivered is proportional to $R^{\frac{2}{3}}$. However, increasing propeller radius for a fixed rotational speed increases the tip Mach number and, as previously discussed, this will increase the noise level.

It is of interest to examine the performance of different diameter propellers driven by the existing engine and operating at the same tip Mach number. The maximum engine torque is essentially constant and independent of rotational speed. (i.e. power is proportional to engine RPM). The value, η , can be rewritten in terms of engine torque and tip speed by noting that:

and in decoded

$$P = \omega Q$$
$$V_{t} = \omega R$$

Substituting these into [1],

$$\eta = \frac{T^{3/2}}{QV_+ \sqrt{2\pi\rho}}$$

This relation shows that the thrust is independent of diameter if η , Q, and V_t are all constant. In fact, Equation [3] shows that the required engine power will vary inversely as the propeller diameter. It should also be pointed out that as the diameter is increased, the static efficiency is likely to increase because the engine nacelle will obstruct a smaller proportion of the total propeller disc. Thus, the required power for a given thrust will be further reduced as the diameter is increased. The reduced power loading for the larger diameter propeller will, of course, lead to quieter operation for a given thrust and tip speed.

It is therefore clear that the largest practical propeller will yield the best results from the standpoint of both efficiency and noise. A 65 foot diameter propeller for the present applications was selected as this was the largest diameter propeller that could be mounted with the existing engine installation. (The removal of flanges at the base of the engine mount now permits the installation of a slightly larger propeller.)

-17-

As previously mentioned, a further increase in performance is obtained by replacing the bush-guard with an accelerating shroud. The detailed design of the shroud is discussed in the next section. For the purpose of designing the propeller it was assumed that the shroud would produce 10 percent of the total thrust.

The noise theory discussed earlier indicated the desirability of a 16 bladed propeller. Strip theory was used to determine the blade geometry that would give the best overall performance. The resulting design represents a compromise between the conflicting requirements of quiet operation, good static thrust, good performance at cruise speed, and adequate blade strength.

A propeller was designed to absorb 390 horsepower under static conditions while operating at 2600 rpm within the nozzle. This propeller has an 18 inch diameter hub and is 6.5 feet in diameter. It was calculated that the nozzle propeller system would deliver a total static thrust of 1625 pounds with the propeller producing 1462 pounds. This corresponds to a static efficiency of 0.8 and a figure of merit of 1.13. Figure 5 shows the predicted variation of total thrust with forward speed while the blade planform and airfoil sections are shown in Figure 6. Figure 7 shows the radial distribution of chord length, thickness, and blade angle.

To obtain good static efficiency the propeller blades should operate at a lift coefficient that will produce the best liftdrag ratio at each radial station. They should also be proportioned to produce nearly constant loading over that portion of the propeller disc that is not in the wake of the engine. In this case, these considerations demand a low blade area ratio and blades that are tapered with decreasing chord toward the tips.

· mail Birner Dr

-18-

A low blade area ratio is also desirable because it makes the propeller thrust less sensitive to changes in inflow velocity. This is advantageous for several reasons: (1) the thrust will not diminish as rapidly as forward speed is increased, (2) the thrust will be less affected by gusting winds, this is especially important when maneuvering at low speed, and (3) the thrust fluctuations caused by the blades passing through the engine mount wake will be maintained, thus minimizing this source of noise. However, to obtain adequate blade strength in a propeller with 16 blades while keeping an acceptable chord-thickness ratio requires the blades to have larger chords than would be desirable from purely aerodynamic considerations. This would not be the case if the propeller had eight or fewer blades.

A final consideration is the blade section critical Mach number. An airfoil traveling at high subsonic Mach numbers may have regions of local supersonic flow. This is due to the increase in local velocity as the air passes over the foils. The speed at which this first occurs is a function of both airfoil shape and lift coefficient and this velocity divided by the speed of sound is referred to as the "critical Mach number". At speeds above the critical Mach number small "shocklets" are formed near the foil surface. Since the main flow is subsonic these shockwaves will not propagate beyond the region of local supersonic flow and thus do not contribute directly to the overall noise level. However, they could impinge on the nozzle or deck causing these to vibrate and radiate additional noise. In addition, the blade drag coefficient usually increases at speeds above the critical Mach number which

-19-

will, of course result in a loss of efficiency. It is therefore desirable to select a blade section and angle of attack that will yield a high critical Mach number for the blade tips.

The NACA 63_2 -412 section was selected as the optimum section for the blade tips of the present design. It has both a high critical Mach number extending over a wide range of lift coefficients and relatively low drag. Figure 8 shows the relation between the critical Mach number and the tip Mach number over the range of operating lift coefficients. It can be seen in this figure that the blade tip speeds exceed the critical speed at full throttle rpm. However, their speed will probably be subcritical at normal cruising speeds and this will help reduce noise.

Unfortunately the cost of machining 16 of these blades for an experimental propeller was prohibitive so commercial light plane propeller blades were substituted. The blades most nearly matching our design are the Hartzell model 7636-4 (left-handed) blades. These are made of 2025 ST-6 forged aluminum alloy and are anodized. These blades are somewhat larger than desirable and, being designed for use on a smaller hub, have too much radial twist. The table compares blade chords and pitch angles at four radial stations.

Radius	HYDRONAUTICS,	Hartzell Blades		
(inches)	Chord (inches)	Pitch (deg)	Chord Pitch (inches) (deg	
124.70213.80302.9039(tip)2.00		27.13 19.40 13.25 10.13	4.85 5.91 5.18 · 3.40	25.8 18.3 12.0 6.8
	Blade Area Ratio = 0.336		Blade Ar Ratio =	ea 0.484

W

-20-

The excessive radial twist is particularly damaging to the performance since it unloads the blade tips which decreases the effective propeller diameter and reduces the performance of the shroud.

It was desirable to keep the hub as small as possible so that the engine cooling air would not be unduly restricted. With a slight modification to the blade shanks it was possible to mount the 16 blades on a 17-3/8 inch diameter hub, as compared to the 14-1/2 inch diameter hub on the current 4 bladed propeller. The blades can be easily removed from the hub and their pitch can be adjusted. This flexibility permits full throttle torque to be absorbed at various engine speeds and with various numbers of blades. Since the new propeller and the original propeller have the same diameter and hub thickness they are interchangable without modification to the engine and hub assembly. The assembled propeller weighs 325 pounds with each blade weighing 11 pounds. While this is heavier than desirable it was felt to be acceptable for the present test purposes. Figure 9 shows the assembled propeller in the shop and mounted on the airboat. Figure 10 shows the propeller with the shroud installed.

SHRCUD DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

A shroud was designed and constructed for installation on the airboat. There are a number of factors which influence the selection of shroud geometry and arrangement on the boat. Some guidance for the development of the proper section shape and location with respect to the propeller is presented in Reference 5. However, because the propeller is so heavily loaded in the static condition,

1 State State in

-21-

a theoretical solution for the optimum shroud geometry is subject to considerable uncertainty. The theory does indicate that the function of the shroud is to prevent the constriction of the propeller slip stream. As a result, in the ideal case the propeller should be placed reasonably near the leading edge of the shroud. Also, the tip clearance between the propeller and the shroud should be made as small as possible. An estimate was made of the geometry of a shroud which would satisfy the above conditions. This shroud is shown in Figure 11. There are, however, a number of practical arrangement problems which prevent a shroud of this geometry from being installed on an existing airboat. The major problem is that the propeller is located very near the transom of the boat. Thus any shroud which extended far enough past the propeller would interfere with the rudders and with the handling of the boat. There would also be a structural problem because of the very limited area in which to attach the shroud to the hull structure. Because of these considerations it was necessary to install the shroud forward of what would have been the ideal location. The shroud as installed on the boat is also shown in Figure 11.

An arrangement drawing showing the details of the shroud construction and installation on the boat is enclosed as Figure 12. The overall diameter of the shroud is 8'-10" and the inside diameter is 7'-0". The chord length is 30-3/8 inches and the maximum thickness is 6-7/16 inches. The construction of the shroud is composite aluminum and fiberglass. The inner skin of the shroud is fiberglass reinforced epoxy with a thickness of 3/16 inch. This skin is bonded to tubular aluminum leading and trailing edge

-22-

members and to an aluminum plate spar. The outer surface of the shroud is 1/32 inch sheet aluminum. The shroud is filled with a fiberglass blanket of about 1.5 lb/ft³ density to provide acoustic absorption. The offsets for the section profile and the structural arrangements described above are shown in HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated drawing number 532-4 enclosed as Figure 13. The weight of the shroud is about 230 pounds.

DESIGN OF TWIN ENGINE AIRBOAT

The contract also called for investigation of a twin engine airboat to provide the same thrust and performance as the single engine airboat. Such a design should be quieter and improve the stability of the boat. An extensive study was made of the engines available for use on this craft. Based on weight, power and shaft rpm, two Lycoming HIO-360-AlA engines of 180 horsepower each are the most suitable for this installation. The weight of this type of aluminum boat would increase from 2750 pounds for the existing single 400 horsepower engine installation to 2840 pounds with twin engines totaling 360 horsepower. The center of gravity will move aft about .15 feet and down about .25 feet as compared with the existing single engine boats. This should improve the stability of the boat slightly.

HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated drawing No. 532-9 showing the general arrangement of the design is enclosed as Figure 14. The arrangement drawing shows the engine fitted with 4.5 foot diameter unshrouded propellers. These provide about the same propeller disc area as the single 6.5 foot diameter propeller on the single engine boat. Thus the static thrust and overall performance of the

-23-

twin engine boat should be about the same as the single engine boat. However, because of the smaller diameter of each propeller the noise level and the profile height will be reduced. The twin engine craft will be more maneuverable and reliable than the single engine craft. Kick-up underwater rudders are shown on the enclosed arrangement drawing. These will be necessary to control the boat when running on a single engine. The moment due to off-center thrust would be too large for the air rudder alone to overcome. With underwater rudders it was estimated that the boat at 5000 pounds displacement could make about 18 knots on a single engine.

A study of the noise characteristics of the two propellers showed that the rotational noise could be decreased by 6-8 db because of the lower tip Mach numbers encountered in this design. However, the machinery arrangements for the twin-engine design will require extensive modifications to the present airboat. The engines required to propel such a craft were procured in accordance with the provisions of the contract in anticipation of the intention of the sponsoring office to continue the present contract to build and test the twin engine craft.

EXPERIMENTAL TESTS

The propeller and nozzle, described in the previous sections, were tested for noise and performance extensively. A summary of the different conditions of the tests is given in Table 2. A detailed description of the tests and an analysis of the test results is presented in the following sections. At the end of these

(A. 23)

and the second second second second second

The second states of the second states and

-24-

TABLE 2

•

Summary of Test Conditions								
	Propeller Des							
Diameter	Number of Blades	Blade Pitch at 0.7 R	RPM	Shroud	Remarks			
616"	4	13.5°	2575	Without	Original wooden propeller			
6'6"	8	6° 8° 10° 12°	2850 2600 2380 2150	Without Without Without Without	All the remaining tests were made with the newly designed aluminum propeller			
6'6"	8	6° 8° 10° 12°	2900 2700 2475 2275	With With With With				
6'6"	16	8° 10° 12°	2475 2200 1850	Without Without Without				
6'6"	16	80 100 120 140	2575 2450 2150 1850	With With With With				

1 State Les

-25-

tests, it was concluded that the nozzle was not performing as expected; i.e. the thrust of the propeller-shroud combination was lower and the noise greater than that of the propeller alone. Consequently, a series of model tests were made to determine the best method of improving the effectiveness of the shroud. These model tests, which are described in detail in a later section, indicated that the shroud could be made more effective by reducing the clearance between the tips of the blades and the inside of the shroud. Consequently, the blades of the prototype propeller were extended to a diameter of 6'll", thereby reducing the tip clearance from 3" to 1/2". The series of prototype tests conducted with this modified propeller in the shroud is presented in Table 3.

NOISE AND PERFORMANCE TESTS OF PROPELLER AND PROPELLER-SHROUD COMBINATION

Prototype noise and performance tests were conducted at Montgomery County Air Park, Gaithersburg, Maryland. This site was chosen because it afforded a flat, wide-open area where sound would not be reflected from trees or buildings. Also, aviation gasoline and personnel for proper operation and maintenance of the engine were readily available.

Static thrust was measured by a spring dynamometer. The test configuration is shown schematically in Figure 15. The carriage was placed on wooden planks so that it would roll smoothly. The dynamometer was read while the boat carriage was rolling both forward and aft. The two readings were then averaged to give the true thrust. The rolling friction of the carriage and cable pulley

-26-

TABLE 3

Propeller Description					
Diameter	Number of Blades	Blade Pitch at 0.7 R	RPM	Shroud	Remarks
"ווי6	8	8° 10° 12° 14°	2650 2650 2450 2200	With	Blade tips were ex- tended by 2-1/2"
6'11"	4	10 ⁰ 12 ⁰ 14 ⁰	2650 2650 2550	With	J L 1/L
6'11"	2	10 ⁰ 12 ⁰ 14 ⁰ 16 ⁰ 18 ⁰	2650 2650 2650 2450 2250	With	

Experimental Test Conditions

was thereby eliminated. Engine rpm and intake manifold pressure were also recorded. These readings were then used with the calibration curve supplied by the engine manufacturer to obtain shaft power, P.

Noise and performance tests were conducted concurrently. Total sound pressure levels, SPL, were measured and recorded graphically. The measurements were made at several stations around the boat. These stations were all at a 50 foot radius from the propeller hub and spaced at $22-1/2^{\circ}$ increments from 0° (directly ahead of the boat) to 135° (off the stern quarter). The wake of

-27-

the propeller prevented making measurements at $157-1/2^{\circ}$ and 180° (directly astern). Noise frequency analyses were made with a General Radio Variable bandwidth frequency analyzer, type 1900 A. The SPL was recorded automatically as a function of frequency on strip-chart paper. These frequency analyses were generally recorded only for the 0° (directly ahead) and 90° (abeam) stations.

Tests were made for several propeller configurations which are described here briefly.

Four bladed wooden, 6.5 ft. diameter propeller. This propeller came with the airboat and its performance was considered to be a reference with which to assess the performance and noise reduction of the remaining configurations.

6.5 ft. diameter aluminum propeller and hub with 4, 8, and 16 blades. The pitch of the blades was varied from 8° to 14° at 70 percent of the tip radius.

7 ft. diameter shroud and 6.5 ft. diameter propeller with 4, 8, and 16 blades. The same propeller and hub as above was used with the addition of a fiberglass shroud around the propeller.

The results of the performance tests are presented in Figures 16, 17 and 18. These figures show thrust, maximum rpm, horsepower, and the dimensionless figure of merit, C_{M} for the various propeller configurations. They are plotted as functions of the blade pitch at the .7 tip radius measured in degrees.

-28-

Results of noise tests are precented in Figures 19 through 24. Figures 19, 20, 21 and 22 show total SPL in db (re.0.0002 μ bar) for the various propeller configurations at a 50 foot radius from the propeller hub. Figures 23 and 24 show frequency analyses of two propeller configurations. Here, the SPL is plotted as a function of frequency. The principal conclusions to be drawn from these tests are:

(i) The 4 bladed wooden propeller provided a thrust of 1100 pounds and the noise levels around the boat (refer to Figure 19) are lower than the levels measured at Ft. Belvoir. This change is due to the fact that the mufflers recommended by the engine manufacturer were used in these tests. These lower noise levels were taken to be the reference levels. The noise levels of the new propellers are compared with this reference level to determine their effectiveness in noise reduction.

(ii) As seen in Figure 18, the 16 bladed propeller did not produce 1100 pounds of thrust either with or without the shroud at the pitch angles tested. Hence, no valid comparisons of the noise levels could be made with the 4 bladed wooden propeller. The noise levels with the shroud are greater than those with the propeller alone as seen in Figure 22. This is due to the fact that the flow separates from the inside of the shroud.

(iii) As seen in Figure 17 the 8 bladed propeller produced a maximum of 1225 pounds of thrust without the shroud and 1100 pounds of thrust with the shroud. At the higher blade pitches,
-29-

the 8 bladed propeller was slightly quieter than the 4 bladed wooden propeller. However, the noise levels were still high and because of the separation of the flow from the inside of the shroud, it was concluded that the nozzle was not being used effectively.

MODEL TESTS

Results of the thrust and noise tests on the prototype indicated that the propeller-shroud configuration was r⁻⁺ performing as anticipated. Flow studies with yarn tufts on the inner surface of the shroud showed that the flow was separating from the shroud inner surface ahead of the propeller. The maximum figure of merit C_M , obtained was approximately .75 compared with theoretical indications that shrouded propellers can yield values C_M as high as 1.7. It was concluded that modifications should be made on the shroud-propeller configuration to eliminate flow separation, increase the figure of merit and, thereby, reduce noise. Scale model tests were determined to be the most expeditious method of studying various changes in shroud design.

A one to 9.33 scale model was fabricated at HVDRONAUTICS, Incorporated. This model is shown in Figure 25. A 1/2-horsepower AC-DC series motor was chosen to drive the model airplane propeller. The size of the motor was such that it modeled the blockage caused by the prototype aircraft engine with fair accuracy. The shaft horsepower of the motor was calibrated as a function of motor rotative speed with a torsion dynamometer. Several model airplane propellers (2- and 4 bladed) with different pitches were used to vary the model thrust. The thrust of the shroud and propeller were measured separately with two thrust dynamometers

-30-

which are shown in Figure 25. Rotative speed was measured with a stroboscope (Strobotac). The figure of merit, C_{M} , is calculated from

$$C_{M} = \frac{T^{3/2}}{(\rho A)^{\frac{1}{2}}P}$$

where

T = total thrust in pounds,

 ρ = density of air,

A = disc area of model propeller, and

P = power in ft-lbs/sec.

Four basic model configurations were tested: the propeller alone, the propeller with a block to simulate the boat-stern, the propeller with 2 complete shroud, and the propeller with a shroud mounted on a block to simulate the boat stern as shown in Figure 26. Various modifications and alterations were tested on one or more of the basic configurations and are described briefly as follows: a leading-edge ring splitter plate on the shroud; a modified shroud shape with increased chord; variation of fore and aft placement of the shroud with respect to the propeller plane; various diffuser configurations attached behind the shroud; and variation of tip clearance between the propeller and the inside of the nozzle. A more detailed description of these tests and the results is found in Reference 6. Of the modifications tested, reducing the tip clearance provided the best means of increasing $C_{\rm M}$. Figures 27

-31-

and 28 show the results of model tests with variation in tip clearance (values of tip clearance are given to prototype scale). Figure of merit C_{M} is plotted as a function of model propeller pitch-diameter ratio P/D. The dashed line in each figure is the result from tests of the propeller without shroud and corresponds to the diameter necessary for 3 inch prototype tip clearance. It can be seen in these two figures that the value of C_{M} can be increazed 25 to 30 percent by reducing tip clearance from 3 inches to 3/4 inch. The effect of the boat-end is to decrease C_{M} slightly from those values for a complete shroud around the propeller.

Figure 29 shows that the behavior of model and prototype are similar. In Figure 29 the figure of merit, C_M , is plotted versus pitch-diameter ratio P/D.

VIBRATION STUDIES

The scale model tests described in the previous section indicated that a reduction in tip clearance between the propeller blades and the nozzle would result in considerable improvement in static thrust and figure of merit, $C_{\rm M}$. The minimum acceptable tip clearance in the prototype should allow operation of the boat under all anticipated operating conditions without danger of contact between the blade tips and the shroud. It was necessary to determine the maximum relative motion between the propeller and shroud under different operating conditions in order to specify a minimum allowable clearance. Vibration studies were made on the prototype to evaluate the maximum deflection of the shroud relative to the propeller.

-32-

Polyurethane foam blocks were mounted inside the shroud in the propeller plane at several positions around the shroud The blocks were shaved until they had zero clearance with the blade tips. Any relative motion between the rotating propeller and shroud caused the propeller tips to "machine" a groove in the foam blocks thus providing a record of the maximum relative motion.

It had been noted during earlier noise tests of the prototype that the largest deflection or vibration of the shroud occurred when starting or shutting down the engine. It was found that this is also the time when the maximum relative motion occurs between the propeller and shroud. However, it was noted that the maximum relative motion (3/16") was much less severe than the absolute excursions of the motor and shroud as a unit (about 1-1/2 inches).

Relative and absolute motion of the shroud and propelier at normal operating rpm was found to be negligible. Personnel jumped on the decks in an attempt to simulate slamming of the hull, but no relative motion could be detected.

It was concluded from these studies that a nominal tip clearance of 1/2 inch would be acceptable and that the shroud should be more carefully aligned with the propeller centerline to assure a minimum tip clearance of 3/8 inch. It was concluded that further reduction of tip clearance would yield diminishing returns in performance while greatly increasing the possibility of damage to the shroud and propeller. The tip clearance was reduced from 3 inches to 1/2 inch by welding aluminum extensions to the tips of

-33-

the blades. The extensions were then milled down to the tip airfoil section without any further twist in the blade. The modified propeller was thus 6'll'' in diameter, while the inside of the shroud remained 7 inches in diameter.

NOISE AND THRUST TESTS OF MODIFIED PROPELLER-SHROUD COMBINATION

The modified propeller-shroud combination consists of the 6'll" propeller installed in the shroud with a tip clearance of 1/2 inch all around the shroud. The first series of tests were made with 8 blades mounted on the propeller hub. These tests showed that the vortex and wake-induced noise made up a large part of the total noise. Increasing the number of blades to 16 would have doubled the blade area ratio and increased the vortex and wake-induced noise. Thus, further tests were made with 4 and 2 blades mounted on the hub. The tests included measurements of the noise and the static performance of these propellers at various pitches. At each pitch, the noise and thrust measurements were made for two different conditions. First, the tests were conducted with the engine running at full throttle or at the maximum allowable engine speed of 2650 rpm. Under these conditions, it was noticed that the measured thrust was greater than 1100 pounds. Valid comparisons of the noise levels of two propellers can only be made when they produce the same thrust. Hence, the second condition at which noise measurements were made, was when the propellers were producing the thrust produced by the four-bladed wooden propeller, 1100 pounds. The performance characteristics at maximum throttle and the noise levels at 1100 pounds thrust are discussed in the following section.

-34-

8 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller Inside Shroud

The performance of the eight-bladed propeller is shown in Figure 30. At the lower pitches, i.e. at 8° and 10°, the maximum rpm of 2650 was obtained at partial throttle. The thrust, power and figure of merit C_M , have maximum values at the 10° pitch setting. The corresponding thrust of 1500 pounds is the maximum obtained in all the tests. The figure of merit C_M is larger than that obtained with the 6'6" propeller. However, C_M is not as large as that predicted by the model tests. This probably results from the fact that the blade tips are very lightly loaded and under these conditions the shroud is not very effective in providing thrust. As the pitch of the blades is increased, the shroud should become more effective a conclusion which seems to be borne out by the rise in the value of C_M at 14° pitch.

Figure 31 shows the variation of sound pressure level around the airboat with the 8 bladed propeller operating at different pitches. At all the pitch settings, the rpm of the propeller was adjusted to obtain a thrust of 1100 pounds. It can be seen that the noise decreases with increasing pitch and is a minimum at the 14° pitch.

4 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller With Shroud

The performance of the four bladed propeller is shown in Figure 32. The maximum thrust of 1400 pounds is reached at the 12° and 14° pitches with figures of merit, C_{M} , about the same as those of the 8 bladed propeller. The noise levels around the

-35-

boat when the propeller is delivering 1100 pounds of thrust are indicated in Figure 33. It can be seen that the noise levels decrease with increasing pitch and are a minimum at the 14° pitch. The noise levels at the 14° pitch are the lowest of all the combinations of number of blades and pitches tested.

2 Bladed, 6'11" Propeller Inside Shroud

The performance of the 2 bladed propeller is shown in Figure 34. The rpm of the propeller was held constant at 2650, until the thrust produced reached 1300 pounds. It was calculated that distributing a larger load between two blades would stress them to an unsafe limit. This was, of course, a conservative limit since it was not known how much of the total thrust was being developed by the shroud. Thus, it was decided to make measurements at the 16° and 18° pitch settings with the rpm required to produce 1300 pounds of thrust. It was estimated that the engine power was sufficient to have turned the propeller at 2650 rpm for these two pitches. At this rotative speed, the thrust, power and $C_{\rm M}$ would have been correspondingly higher than the values shown. The $C_{\rm M}$ values obtained are high and in the range predicted by the model tests.

Despite the high values of C_{M} , the noise levels when producing 1100 pounds are not particularly low as indicated in Figure 35. The pitch produces the least noise.

Figure 36 compares the noise levels of the 2, 4, and 8 bladed propellers operating at their quietest pitch settings with the noise level of the 4 bladed wooden propeller. It can be seen that

-36-

the 4 bladed propeller at the 14° pitch is the quietest. There is a reduction of 2 db along the propeller axis, 12 db in the plane of the propeller and 8.5 db at $\theta = 135^{\circ}$. The four bladed propeller also appears to be properly matched to the 400 horsepower engine. This propeller delivers its maximum thrust of 1400 pounds when absorbing 390 horsepower at 2550 rpm. This power rating and rpm are close to the maximum ratings of the engine. Under these conditions, the engine manual indicates a fuel consumption of 29.5 gals/hr, with the mixture setting for the best power. During cruise conditions, a thrust level of 1100 pounds will presumably be demanded. The four bladed propeller will provide this thrust while absorbing 247 horsepower at 2250 rpm. Under these conditions, the engine manual indicates a fuel consumption of 17 gals/hr with the mixture setting for best economy. Thus, with the new four bladed propeller, it will be possible, with a given quantity of fuel to greatly increase the range obtained using the 4 bladed, unshrouded, wooden propeller.

WATER JET IMPELLER DESIGN

As mentioned in the introduction of this report, HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated proposed to improve the performance of an existing water jet system by redesigning the pump impellers. A commercial water jet unit obtained by the Army was installed in a boat and static tests were conducted at dockside. These tests indicated that the static thrust increased as the square of the rpm at low values of the rpm. At higher rpm, cavitation began to affect the performance of the impellers and a peak static thrust of 750 lbs was obtained at 3400 rpm, while absorbing 80 horsepower.

-37-

Improvement in the performance of the impellers can be obtained by redesigning the impeller to delay cavitation thereby making it possible to operate at higher rpm and to obtain increased thrust, although this larger thrust may be obtained at a lower efficiency. It is assumed that the engine is capable of delivering the increased power. The new impellers should thus deliver a larger thrust even without any change in impeller dimensions.

The commercial unit has two rotating impellers divided by a stator. Each impeller has 4 blades, the two impellers being identical. Preliminary calculations indicated that better performance can be obtained if the second impeller operates immediately behind the first with the stator placed behind the second impeller. Further calculations revealed that the two impellers could be replaced by a single impeller without any loss in performance. The following sections will describe calculations evaluating the water jet performance, the design of a new impeller and stator and their construction and installation in the water jet unit.

CALCULATION OF MAXIMUM POWER ABSORPTION

In order to develop maximum thrust, the impeller must be designed to absorb maximum power, without cavitation or separation. The maximum power that could be absorbed by an impeller of the given size (7" diameter) was calculated in the following manner. Since the engine was rated at 160 horsepower and 4500 rpm, the impeller head and discharge necessary to absorb that power, were

-38-

calculated. It was then necessary to see if an axial-flow impeller could be designed to deliver that head and discharge at that rpm without cavitation or separation. If this proved impossible new calculations were made starting with a lower power level. This procedure was continued until a power level was reached for which an impeller could be designed to deliver the required head and discharge.

Two criteria were used to determine the feasibility of designing an impeller for a given set of conditions. The first condition required that cavitation not occur at the tips of the tlades when operating under static conditions. The second condition required that the foil at the hub section not be loaded to such a degree that separation would occur. This systematic study indicated that an impeller with the following design conditions absorbed maximum power.

> Power absorbed $(\eta_{pump} = 75 \text{ percent}) = 57 \text{ horsepower}.$ Forward velocity of boat = 20 fps. Thrust at cruise speed = 455 pounds. Thrust at zero speed = 685 pounds. Total pump head = 60 feet. Pump discharge = 5.88 cps = 2640 gpm. Pump rpm = 2400. Jet velocity = 60 fps. Single impeller Specific speed = 5700 Net positive suction head = NPSH = 30.6 ft. of water.

-39-

Suction specific speed = 9500 Number of vanes = 8 Hub to tip diameter ratio = 0.6 NACA 67 mean line and NACA O series, thickness distribution used for blade sections Degree of reaction = 82 percent at tip and 50 percent at hub.

The impeller was designed at five cylindrical sections using the method outlined in Reference 7. A schematic drawing of one of the eight blades and several cylindrical sections of that blade are presented in Figure 37. Complete engineering drawings of the impeller and the guide vanes have been sent to the sponsor. The design method consists of defining an interference streamline and placing an airfoil section along this streamline to generate lift. The interference streamline at one blade section is obtained by replacing all the other blades by radial vortices and determining the interference of all the other blades at the blade section under consideration. The lift required at this blade section is developed entirely by camber at zero angle of attack.

The pressure distribution along the impeller sections was calculated to determine if the pressure at any point dropped below vapor pressure with resulting cavitation. The pressure distribution along an airfoil as determined from thin wing theory or as obtained from a wind tunnel test is modified when placed in a pump due to the fact that the average pressure rises from the inlet to the exit of the pump. The average pressure along the foil

-40-

could change from two causes. The first is due to the change in axial velocity from changes in hub diameter or from changes in the thickness of the foil. The second is due to changes in the swirl velocity due to the action of the blades. The average pressure rise and the pressure along the upper and lower surfaces of the impeller sections were obtained from a computer program written for this purpose. Figure 38 shows these pressures in feet of water along the chord length of the section. It can be seen that the pressures remain well above the vapor pressure of water and hence the pump is expected to operate cavitation free at the design condition.

Another computation was made to determine the pressure distribution at off-design operation; for example, when the operating conditions are such that the impeller blade has a 2 degree angle of attack. The pressure distribution for such a case is shown in Figure 39. It can be seen that the pressures along the upper leading edge fall below the vapor pressure and leading edge cavitation will occur over about 9 percent of the chord length. It is, however, expected that the actual operating condition will not differ so markedly from the design condition and hence the pump will not cavitate.

The cavitation studies described in the previous paragraphs apply to the critical tip region. At the hub radius, another problem is likely to be the controlling factor in the design; this problem is one of boundary-layer separation along the foil. Separation of the flow along a foil can occur if the foil has too large a camber or angle of attack or if the foil operates in a

-41-

positive pressure gradient. In the case of a pump design, the foil operates in a positive pressure gradient because of the head rise occurring as the flow passes through the blade row and hence the maximum lift coefficient in such a case will be less than the maximum lift coefficient obtained by the same foil in a wind tunnel test. This decrease in maximum lift is, of course, dependent on the magnitude of the head rise through the impeller. The maximum lift coefficient of the foil can be determined from wind-tunnel tests and, from these data, it is possible to predict, with engineering accuracy, the maximum lift coefficient that can be safely used in design for the given pressure gradient. The actual lift coefficient used in design is kept below this estimated maximum to be sure of separation-free flow. Details of this method of obtaining the maximum lift coefficient of a foil in a positive pressure gradient are given in Reference 8.

To help reduce the operating lift coefficient at the hub, the mean relative velocity past the foil should be increased. This can be done by increasing the hub radius. The existing impellers have a hub to tip diameter ratio of 0.4. In the new single impeller, the hub ratio is increased parabolically from 0.4 to 0.6 in a short distance and then remains constant at 0.6. Because of the change in hub diameter ratio, the pitch angle of the blade in that .egion has to be decreased by about 6 degrees. Hence all the cylindrical sections are shaped as shown in Figure 37.

A stress analysis was conducted to determine the bending stress that occurs at the hub. Because the radial extent of the blade is small, the bending moment due to the hydrodynamic forces

-42-

is small and because of the large camber of the hub section, the section modulus is large. Hence, the maximum stress at the root section is considerably less than the allowable working stress selected (10,000 psi).

DESIGN OF GUIDE VANES

The degree of reaction of the impeller varies from 82 percent at the tip radius to 50 percent at the hub. If the hydraulic efficiency of the impeller is to be raised from these values to about 95 percent, a set of guide vanes must be installed to convert the rotational kinetic energy of the flow to pressure energy. The flow behind the stator will then be nearly axial in direction. The existing water jet unit has a splitter plate behind the second impeller which was bent to act as a guide vane. This bent splitter plate has been milled out so as to then be aligned with the axial flow leaving the stator. This removal of the existing curved lips on the splitter plate will also provide more space for the new guide vanes.

The design of the guide vanes is slightly different from the design of the impeller. The hub of the guide vanes decreases from a radius of 2.1 inches to a radius of 0.8 inches. Thus, the flow will take place along conical surfaces and the foil sections are designed along these surfaces. Taking this conical flow into consideration a stator was designed using the methods described in Reference 8. A drawing of the guide vanes or stator is shown in Figure 40.

-43-

CONSTRUCTION AND INSTALLATION

The construction of the eight bladed impeller was a difficult task and some design features had to be compromised to facilitate construction. Thus, it was decided to replace the NACA O series thickness distribution with a section of uniform thickness, with the leading edge rounded and the trailing edge properly tapered. This change is not likely to cause major changes in the pressure distribution since the camber was more important than the foil thickness in determining the pressure distribution. Thicker sections were also desirable since the blades were to be welded to the hub. The neat of welding would have warped the thin sections. The eight blades were made individually from stainless steel and then they were welded to the hub. The blades were then properly finished and the tips of the blades turned down to its correct diameter. The same procedure was used for the fabrication of the guide vanes. Photographs of the impeller and stator are shown in Figures 41 and 42.

Installation of the impeller and stator in the existing water jet was accomplished by making a few minor modifications to the unit. Thus the original shaft was replaced by another to accept one large impeller instead of two small impellers. The hub of the guide vanes was used to house a bushing for the shaft. Part of the hub and the two splitter plates of the existing unit had to be milled out to accommodate the new guide vanes. Four, lock-bolts were used to clamp the two sections of the water jet unit together. Details of the final assembly of the water jet unit are presented in Figure 43.

1.20

A State And And

-44-

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The noise radiated by the airboat consists mainly of propeller noise. This noise can be reduced by proper design of the propeller and the use of an effective shroud. In the design of a quiet propeller, a large number of blades is desirable if the blade area ratio (BAR) does not increase excessively. A high BAR increases the wake-induced and the vortex noise, thereby nullifying the reductions in rotational noise levels obtained by a large number of In the design of a satisfactory shroud, it is imperative blades. that the flow about the shroud not separate from the inner surface. The overall noise levels of a propeller decrease with the use of a good shroud but increase when separation occurs along the inside surface of the shroud. Two important features help to prevent separation in a shroud beside its own geometry. First, the clearance between the tips of the blades and the inside of the shroud should be a minimum. Second, lightly loaded propeller tips are likely to cause separation and hence the shroud performance increases when tips are heavily loaded. Thrust fluctuation noises can be reduced by providing uniform inflow into the propeller.

For the commercial propeller blade chosen and for the designed shroud, a series of noise and thrust measurements were conducted, changing the number of blades and the blade pitch. These tests showed that a four bladed propeller 6'11" in diameter at 14° pitch radiated the least noise when delivering 1100 pounds of thrust. The maximum thrust produced by this propeller is 1400 pounds and this thrust is delivered at close to the maximum power and rpm rating of the engine. Under this condition, the fuel consumption

-45-

is 29.5 gals/hr. This propeller delivers 1100 pounds of thrust when the engine is operating under economy cruise conditions. Under these conditions, the fuel consumption is only 17 gals/hr and hence for a given volume of fuel, the boat would have much longer endurance than with the original propeller. The noise reductions obtained with this propeller over the four bladed wooden propeller, while delivering 1100 pounds of thrust are 12 db in the plane of the propeller and 2 db along the propeller axis.

1

and the state of the second

Studies of a twin engine airboat revealed that such a craft can be designed for the same static thrust and have 6-8 db lower rotational noise than the single engined airboat. Such a craft would use two engines of 180 horsepower and 4.5 foot diameter unshrouded propellers.

A new impeller and stator have been designed to replace two impellers and a stator in a commercial water jet unit. This new impeller has been designed to absorb a maximum power of 57 horsepower without cavitation or separation occurring in the impeller. Under these conditions, it should provide a thrust of 685 pounds under static conditions and will propel the boat at a speed of 20 fps when the total displacement of the boat is 4000 pounds. The impeller and stator have been fabricated and have been installed in the commercial water jet with a few minor modifications. The complete wate, jet unit is now ready to be tested.

-46-

REFERENCES

- 1. Gutin, L., "On The Sound Field of a Rotating Propeller," NACA TM 1195, 1948.
- Trillo, R. L., "An Empirical Study of Hovercraft Propeller Noise," Hovering Craft and Hydrofoil, Vol. 5, Nos. 3 and 4, December-January 1965-66.
- 3. Yudin, E. Y., "On the Vortex Sound from Rotating Rods," NACA TM 1136, March 1947.
- 4. Hubbard, H. H., "Sound Measurements for Five Shrouded Propellers at Static Conditions," NACA TN 2024, April 1950.
- 5. Chen, C. F., "Feasibility Study of Supercavitating Propellers in Kort Nozzles - Phase I," HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Technical Report 005-1, December 1960.
- 6. "Testing of a Nozzle-Propeller System on the U. S. Army Airboat," HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated Progress Report 532-6, September 1966.
- 7. Bowerman, R. D., "The Design of Axial Flow Pumps," Trans. ASME, pg 1723, November 1956.
- 8. Wislicenus, G. F., "Fluid Mechanics of Turbomachinery," Dover Publications, New York, N. Y., 1965.





FIGURE 1 - AIRBOAT ON TRAILER AND INSTRUMENTS USED FOR NOISE MEASUREMENT TEST 2

•



Same and the second second of the property of the second se



.

ż0

FIGURE 3 - TYPICAL RECORDING OF WAVE ANALYZER, PROPELLER RPM-2600

And the second second second

Same same

6

å

ŧ,

4

ł.

1

i b

] -

•









FIGURE 5 - VARIATION OF TOTAL THRUST WITH SPEED OF HYDRONAUTICS, INC. DESIGNED PROPELLER Est.



1



FIGURE 6 - HYDRONAUTICS, INC. PROPELLER BLADE DESIGN







FIGURE 7 - CHORD, THICKNESS, AND BLADE ANGLE OF HYDRONAUTICS, INC. DESIGNED PROPELLER BLADE

....

and Nederland and States

-788 ⁽¹



FIGURE 8 - RELATION BETWEEN CRITICAL MACH NUMBER AND TIP MACH NUMBER OVER THE RANGE OF OPERATING LIFT COEFFICIENTS



19:00

17

FIGURE 9 - SIXTEEN BLADED PROPELLER



and the state of

FIGURE 10 - SIXTEEN BLADED PROPELLER WITH SHROUD INSTALLED



Real Parks



FIGURE 11 - SHROUD LOCATIONS ON AIRBOAT HULL

...

「「「「「「「「」」」」」」

1



FIGURE 12 - SHROUD ARRANGEMENT ON AIRBOAT HULL

13

2 A

12





172



FIGURE 14 - TWIN ENGINE AIRBOAT ARRANGEMENT DRAWING

(7

6

0 h



FIGURE 15 - TEST SET-UP FOR THRUST MEASUREMENTS OF AIRBOAT

and the second sec

100

영상 문제



FIGURE 16 - PERFORMANCE CHARACTERISTICS OF 8 BLADED PROPELLER

Assessment and a state of the second second

AN STREET STANDARD STREET

\$2





-

134

The second

10.5

-




to the second second

....

1.4

0



FIGURE 19 - SOUND PRESSURE LEVELS AROUND AIRBOAT WITH 4 BLADED WOODEN PROPELLER

. . . .

• • •



FIGURE 20 - SOUND PRESSURE LEVELS AROUND AIRBOAT WITH 8 BLADED PROPELLER

J1.90

a state

Sec.

¥.;

1



FIGURE 21 - SOUND PRESSURE LEVELS AROUND AIRBOAT USING 8 BLADED PROPELLER WITH SHROUD

-

e telefo

2.4

5

以後につきるので

1

1

7.4417 #



FIGURE 22 - SHROUD PRESSURE LEVELS AROUND AIRBOAT USING 16 BLADED PROPELLER WITH AND WITHOUT SHROUD

1

.

.



31

¥.5



HYDRONAUTICS, INCORPORATED

NO EFF



FIGURE 24 - FREQUENCY ANALYSES OF 8 BLADED PROPELLER WITH AND WITHOUT SHROUD

HYDRONAUTICS, INCORPORATED

ST.

- 0-

「日本語などのないで

-4

SOUND PRESSURE LEVEL IN db (RE. 0.0002 µ BAR)

ALA PARTICIPATION AND A



FIGURE 25 - MODEL MOTOR AND NOZZLE MOUNTED ON THRUST DYNAMOMETERS



FIGURE 26 - SHROUD WITH SIMULATED BOAT-STERN

12

1



FIGURE 27 - EFFECT OF TIP CLEARANCE ON FIGURE OF MERIT (RESULTS OF MODEL TESTS)

1



FIGURE 28 - EFFECT OF TIP CLEARANCE ON FIGURE OF MERIT (MODEL TESTS WITH BOAT-STERN SIMULATED)



FIGURE 29 - COMPARISON OF MODEL AND PROTOTYPE DATA









Re.

ŵ,

of the lease









¥.

And the state of t

A State of the sta

ST.

and a second second

20.0



FIGURE 34 - PERFORMANCE OF 2 BLADED 6' 11" PROPELLER WITH SHROUD

1883 NO.

5.



FIGURE 35 - SOUND PRESSURE LEVELS AROUND AIRBOAT WITH 2 BLADED, 6'11" PROPELLER WITH SHROUD 10.00

h s

CE?

*7.00 T (100 PC)





5.

11



10° 20

and a

FIGURE 37 - HYDRONAUTICS, INCORPORATED DESIGN OF IMPELLER FOR COMMERCIAL WATER JET SYSTEM

-

1.24



-

FIGURE 38 - THEORETICAL PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION OVER FOIL AND AVERAGE PRESSURE RISE IN PUMP AT DESIGN CONDITION

ger -

ALC: NO.

1.110

14



FIGURE 39 - THEORETICAL PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION OVER FOIL AND AVERAGE PRESSURE RISE IN PUMP AT OFF DESIGN CONDITION

đ

*



FIGURE 40 - HYDRONAUTICS, INCORPORATED DESIGN OF GUIDE VANES FOR COMMERCIAL WATER JET SYSTEM

5 14

42.00

1.16、杨秋阳以上 /



「「「「「「「「「」」」」

FIGURE 41 - REDESIGNED IMPELLER FOR COMMERCIAL WATER JET SYSTEM



FIGURE 42 - NEW GUIDE VANES FOR COMMERCIAL WATER JET SYSTEM



UNCLASSIFIED

10

-

Security Classification						
DOCUMENT C	ONTROL DATA - RE	D	•			
(Totally classification of title, body of obstract and inde. 1. OBIGINATING ACTIVITY (Comparison author)	zing annotation must be an	Hered when	the overall report to classified)			
HYDRONAUTICS, Incorporated		Inclage find				
Pindell School Road. Howard Cou	inty.					
Laurel. Maryland 20810	•••					
J. REPORT TITLE						
ATEDOAM NOTSE DEDUCATON AND THE	DETTER DESTON	ROR W	गना. समग			
DODULGTON GYOMENC	ELLER PEDION	FOR WA				
PROPULSION SISTEMS						
4- DESCRIPTIVE HOTES (Type of report and inclusive dates)						
Technical Report						
S. AUTHOR(3) (Last name, first name, initial)						
Contractor, Dinshaw N. and J. (Otto Scherer					
	174 70741 110 05 8					
July 1967	06	AUES	8			
	90					
Norm E019(00) ND 060 371						
NONT 5010(00) NK 002-3/1	Technical	Report	t 532-1			
¢.	SA. OTHER REPORT	NO(3) (Any	other numbers that may be seeigned			
d.		·				
10. AVAILABILITY/LIMITATION NOTICES						
Distribution of this document :	is unlimited.					
	12. SPORSORING MILITARY ACTIVITY					
	Office of Naval Research					
54	Department	t of t	he Navy			
13. ABSTRACT This report deals with	problems enco	untere	d in two different			
forms of propulsion used for sha	llow draft bo:	ats. !	The first part of			
the report describes the program	undertaken to	o redu	ce the radiated			
noise levels around a heat program	lled by means	ofan	airscrew. A new			
morse levers around a boat prope.	the nodisted	noise	while providing the			
properter was designed to reduce	une rautaved		duce the propeller			
same or nigner thrust. A shroud	was designed	lo rec	duce the properter			
thrust loading and hence decreas	e the radiated	a nois	e level. An excen-			
sive series of noise and thrust	performance t	ests Wa	as carried out, in			
which the number of blades and b	lade pitch we	re var	ied. The results			
of these tests indicated that th	e new propell	er wit	h 4 blades and a 14			
pitch, operating in the shroud p	rovided more	thrust	and was quieter			
than the original wooden propell	er.					
The second part of the report	rt concerns t	he dea	ign of impellers for			
use in water jet propulsion syst	em for shallo	w drai	t boats. The im-			
pellers in a commercial water ie	t system used	by th	e Army did not per-			
form as anticipated. The report	describes th	e desi	gn of a new impel-			
ler and guide vanes to replace the	hose in the c	ommerc	ial unit. It also			
was designed to develop a maximum	m head and di	scharg	e without cavita-			
tion on constion and hance dev	elon maximum	thrust	The impeller and			
wide wones have here formation and mence dev	and installa	d 1n +	he commencial water			
guide vanes have been labricated	and installe		He commercial water.			
jet unit.						
DD 15084 1473	023556	TNC	LASSIFIED			
	-	Se	curity Classification			
			-			

States and a state which the states

נונולוינונט אירוש ליל עלי עלי איר אינוט ישלים" באלופון לאומיר אירוש אילו אירוש אירוש אירוש אירוש אירוש אירוש אי

T. A

and the second state of the second states and the second states at a

のである

UNCLASSIFIED

ang 1. 1

14	KEY WORDS	LINK A		LINK D		LINK C	
		ROLE	WT	ROLE	WT_	ROLE	WT
	Airboat Noise Reduction						
	Pump Impeller Pesign						
	Shallow Draft Boat Propulsion						
	Water Jet Propulsion						
	Propeller Noise	l l					
			Į –				

INSTRUCTIONS

1. ORIGINATING ACTIVITY: Enter the same and address of the contractor, subcontractor, grantes, Department of Defense activity or other organization (cosporate author) issuing the report.

2a. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION: Enter the overall security classification of the report. Indicate whether "Restricted Data" is included. Marking is to be in accordance with appropriate security regulations.

25. GROUP: Automatic downgrading is specified in DoD Directive 5200.10 and Armed Forces Industrial Manual. Enter the group number. Also, when applicable, show that optional markings have been used for Group 3 and Group 4 as authorized.

3. REPORT TITLE: Enter the complete report title in all capital letters. Titles in all cases should be unclassified. If a meaningful title cannot be selected without classification, show title classification in all capitals in parenthesis immediately following the title.

4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES: If appropriate, enter the type of report, e.g., interim, progress, summary, annual, or final. Give the inclusive dates when a specific reporting period is covered.

5. AUTHOR(8): Enter the name(s) of author(s) as shown on or in the report. Enter last name, first name, middle initial. If military, show rank and branch of service. The name of the principal author is an absolute minimum requirement.

6. REPORT DATE: Enter the date of the report as day, month, year; or month, year. If more than one date appears on the report, use date of publication.

7a. TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES: The total page count should follow normal pagination procedures, i.e., enter the number of pages containing information.

76. NUMBER OF REFERENCES. Enter the total number of references cited in the report.

Sa. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER: If appropriate, enter the applicable number of the contract or grant under which the report was written.

86, 8c, 6s 8d. PROJECT NUMBER: Enter the appropriate military department identification, such as project number, subproject number, system numbers, task number, etc.

9e. ORIGINATOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S): Enter the official report number by which the document will be identified and controlled by the originating activity. This number must be unique to this report.

9b. OTHER REPORT NUMBER(S): If the report has been assigned any other report numbers (either by the originator or by the aponsor), also enter this number(s).

10. AVAILABILITY/LIMITATION NOTICES: Enter any limitations on further dissemination of the report, other than those

DD .528. 1473 (BACK)

The second second

imposed by security classification, using standard statements such as:

- (1) "Qualified requesters may obtain copies of this report from DDC."
- (2) "Foreign announcement and dissemination of this report by DDC is not authorized."
- (3) "U.S. Government agencies may obtain copies of this report directly from DDC. Other qualified DDC users shall request through
- (4) "U. S. military agencies may obtain copies of this report directly from DDC. Other qualified users shall request through
- (5) "All distribution of this report is controlled. Qualified DDC users shall request through

If the report has been furnished to the Office of Technical Services, Department of Commerce, for sale to the public, indicate this fact and enter the price, if known.

11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES: Use for additional explanatory notes.

12. SPONSORING MILITARY ACTIVITY: Enter the name of the departmental project office or laboratory sponsoring (paying for) the research and development. Include address.

i3. ABSTRACT: Enter an abstract giving a brief and factual summary of the document indicative of the report, even though it may also appear elsewhere in the body of the technical report. If additional space is required, a continuation sheet shall be attached.

It is highly desirable that the abstract of classified reports be unclassified. Each paragraph of the abstract shall end with an indication of the military security classification of the information in the paragraph, represented as (TS), (S), (C), or (U).

There is no limitation on the length of the al ract. However, the suggested length is from 150 to 225 words.

14. KEY WORDS: Key words are technically meaningful terms or short phrases that characterize a report and may he used as index entries for cataloging the report. Key words must he selected so that no security classification is required. Identifiera, such as equipment model designation, trade name, military project code name, geographic location, may be used as key words but will be followed by an indication of technical context. The assignment of links, rales, and weights is optionsl.

UNCLASSIFIED

223551

3 .

Security Classification